This article was downloaded by: [Dicle University] On: 14 November 2014, At: 14:22 Publisher: Taylor & Francis Informa Ltd Registered in England and Wales Registered Number: 1072954 Registered office: Mortimer House, 37-41 Mortimer Street, London W1T 3JH, UK



# Annals of Science

Publication details, including instructions for authors and subscription information: <u>http://www.tandfonline.com/loi/tasc20</u>

# Measurements of gravitational redshift between 1959 and 1971

Klaus Hentschel<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Institute for History of Science, University of Göttingen , Humboldtallee 11, D-37073, Göttingen, Germany Published online: 23 Aug 2006.

To cite this article: Klaus Hentschel (1996) Measurements of gravitational redshift between 1959 and 1971, Annals of Science, 53:3, 269-295, DOI: <u>10.1080/00033799600200211</u>

To link to this article: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00033799600200211

## PLEASE SCROLL DOWN FOR ARTICLE

Taylor & Francis makes every effort to ensure the accuracy of all the information (the "Content") contained in the publications on our platform. However, Taylor & Francis, our agents, and our licensors make no representations or warranties whatsoever as to the accuracy, completeness, or suitability for any purpose of the Content. Any opinions and views expressed in this publication are the opinions and views of the authors, and are not the views of or endorsed by Taylor & Francis. The accuracy of the Content should not be relied upon and should be independently verified with primary sources of information. Taylor and Francis shall not be liable for any losses, actions, claims, proceedings, demands, costs, expenses, damages, and other liabilities whatsoever or howsoever caused arising directly or indirectly in connection with, in relation to or arising out of the use of the Content.

This article may be used for research, teaching, and private study purposes. Any substantial or systematic reproduction, redistribution, reselling, loan, sub-licensing, systematic supply, or distribution in any form to anyone is expressly forbidden. Terms & Conditions of access and use can be found at <a href="http://www.tandfonline.com/page/terms-and-conditions">http://www.tandfonline.com/page/terms-and-conditions</a>

### Measurements of Gravitational Redshift between 1959 and 1971

KLAUS HENTSCHEL

Institute for History of Science, University of Göttingen, Humboldtallee 11, D-37073 Göttingen, Germany

#### Received 3 October 1995

#### Summary

The paper presents and discusses measurements of gravitational redshift (GRS) made between 1959 and 1971 by Pound and Rebka, Schiffer and Marshall, Brault, Blamont and Roddier, and finally by Snider. It emphasizes the importance of new measurement techniques such as wavelength modulation, electronic amplification, and scattering of atomic beams to the emergence of new tests of Einstein's GRS prediction, which were perceived by the scientific community as the first 'clean' verifications of GRS. In particular, the race to be the first to apply the Mössbauer effect to the GRS problem is described. As soon as the Mössbauer effect was stabilized, it was transformed into a measurement technology that in turn triggered new types of experimental tests of GRS.

#### Contents

1.	Research on gravitational redshift (GRS) prior to 1955	269
2.	Terrestrial confirmations of GRS	270
	2.1. The Mössbauer effect	270
	2.2. Application to GRS in the Earth's gravitational field	272
	2.3. Another perspective on those experiments	279
3.	Precision measurements of solar GRS	281
	3.1. Photoelectric spectrometers with wavelength modulation technique	281
	3.2. Resonance scattering in atomic beams	286
4.	Conclusion	290
	Bibliography	292

#### 1. Research on gravitational redshift (GRS) prior to 1955

As is well known, gravitational redshift (henceforth abbreviated as GRS) was first predicted by Einstein in his survey paper for Stark's *Jahrbuch der Radioaktivität und Elektronik* in 1907, and reiterated in the framework of his 1911 Prague theory as well as in his 1915–16 general theory of relativity and gravitation (henceforth referred to as GTR).<sup>1</sup> Since the effect depends only on the equivalency principle as opposed to the full-fledged GTR, the 1907 prediction did *not* have to be altered (unlike the value for light deflection) but was stable throughout the entire complex development of the theory. In sharp contrast with the *theoretical* stability of this testable consequence of GTR, the *empirical* question as to whether this effect exists in the spectrum of the sun and other bodies with high gravitational potential  $\phi \sim M/R$  was far from stable

<sup>1</sup> Einstein [1907], [1911], and, for example, [1916]. A name with the year in brackets refers to a citation in the Bibliography.

throughout the second and third decade of this century.<sup>2</sup> From the mid-1920s onwards, interest in this question fell drastically, certainly due in part to the emergence of quantum mechanics, and only a few specialists occasionally tried to measure the GRS between 1925 and 1955.<sup>3</sup>

In the following I will deal with the revived interest in measurements of GRS *after* 1955 that led to a whole sequence of new experiments, the results of which were published between 1959 and 1972. If we disregard the complex issue of GRS in the Sirius-B spectrum (studied historically in detail by Norris Hetherington), we can say that it was only by means of these measurements that a 'clean' confirmation of Einstein's prediction of the GRS could be achieved. From a historiographic point of view, this time period has, up to now, been much less the focus of investigation than the first half of this century. While the correspondence files and lab notebooks of all the experimenters figuring prominently in the following account are not yet open to historical investigation in public archives, two of the main actors were so kind as to answer detailed questions relating to their former work and provided me with information I could not have obtained otherwise.

#### 2. Terrestrial confirmations of GRS

#### 2.1. The Mössbauer effect

From 1955 on, a young graduate student at the Munich Polytechnic, Rudolf (Ludwig) Mößbauer (b. 1929), worked at the Physics Department of the Max Planck Institute for Medical Research with the aim of realizing  $\gamma$  resonance absorption in nuclei.<sup>4</sup> Most other experimenters at the time thought such an endeavour a waste of time. Those few who were on the same track tried instead to increase the temperature of their  $\gamma$ -ray emitters to enhance the probability of resonance absorption due to an increased line width broadened by the Doppler effect. Mössbauer disregarded this common wisdom and lowered the temperature of his emitter to 90 K. When, instead of the expected decrease, he found an increase in the absorption rates, he was at first puzzled. What happened, expressed in a crude qualitative way, was that at low temperatures some of the emitting and absorbing atoms are not able to recoil in the crystal lattice so that the recoil momentum is taken up by the entire crystal. This means that the emitting  $\gamma$ -ray loses virtually no energy to the recoiling system and that no energy is lost on recoil in absorption so that the usual hindrance to resonance absorption is removed. Even after he was finally convinced that he had found a new way to produce recoilless  $\gamma$  resonance absorption, the idea still sounded absurd to most of his colleagues.<sup>5</sup> Energy resolutions of  $E/\Delta E \sim 4 \cdot 10^{10}$ , as Mössbauer had obtained them in his analysis of the 129 keV transition in the Iridium isotope 191,

<sup>5</sup> On the history of the discovery of the Mössbauer effect, for example, his Nobel prize speech: Mössbauer [1962] as well as Frauenfelder [1962], Wegener [1966], and Hentschel [1995], §11.2.2, especially 813, footnote 65 on Mössbauer himself.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Compare, for example, Earman and Glymour [1980] as well as Hentschel [1993a] on the efforts of Charles Edward St John at Mt Wilson Solar Observatory from 1916 onwards; compare also Forbes [1961], and Hentschel [1994, 1995] on many other futile attempts by solar spectroscopists such as John Evershed at Kodaikanal Observatory and Erwin Finlay Freundlich at the Potsdam Einstein Tower to get a clearer confirmation of this effect in the solar spectrum.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Eisenstaedt [1986] has coined the expression 'low water mark' of empirical tests of GTR to describe this situation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> On Mößbauer see, for example, F. v. Feilitzsch, in Magnus (ed.) [1993], 107; since his name is usually spelled 'Mössbauer' in Anglo-Saxon texts, I will stick to this tradition in the following. The option to work at the Heidelberg Max-Planck Institute with its much better instrumentation (including a cyclotron) was given to him owing to the connections of his supervisor, Heinz Maier-Leibnitz, to the head of the MPI, Walther Bothe.

were then almost unheard. One of the few exceptions was Robert W. Dicke at Princeton who had a similar idea at the time but did not follow it up; according to his own later testimony: 'I considered narrowing  $\gamma$ -radiation from radioactive nuclei in a solid in this way, but unlike Mössbauer did not think that it was feasible'.<sup>6</sup>

In the months following Mössbauer's first publications in the spring of 1958, the scientific community did not respond since most physicists were still undecided as to whether to believe the newcomer's claims or not.<sup>7</sup> On 1 September 1959, however, the first two experimental confirmations of Mössbauer's results gained with the 129 keV transition of Ir<sup>191</sup> which allowed an energy resolution  $E/\Delta E \simeq 4 \cdot 10^{10}$  appeared in the *Physical Review Letters*,<sup>8</sup> and in 1960 the enormous jump in the scale of experimentally resolvable energy  $E/\Delta E$  became obvious. Owing to the use of other nuclear isotopes such as the 14.4 keV transition in Fe<sup>57</sup> in particular,<sup>9</sup> energy resolutions of  $E/\Delta E \sim$  $E_0/\Gamma \sim 3.2 \times 10^{12}$  were reached independently at the Lyman Laboratory of Physics of Harvard University, at the Atomic Energy Research Establishment in Harwell (England), at the University of Illinois in Urbana and at the Argonne National Laboratory. Thus a 100-fold reduction in the energy resolution compared with the example reported by Mössbauer and others was achieved.<sup>10</sup> This transition of the iron 57 isotope could be induced in comparatively easy-to-prepare radioactive Co<sup>57</sup> sources mounted on iron discs at temperatures up to 200°C, later even up to 1000 °C, and the absorbers were also simply iron discs with a 75% Fe<sup>57</sup> constitution. Furthermore, even at room temperature a considerable portion of the nuclei underwent recoilless  $\gamma$  emission.<sup>11</sup> Thus from 1960 on, applications of this new effect of recoilless nuclear  $\gamma$ -ray resonance absorption, also simply called the Mössbauer effect,<sup>12</sup> boomed, most prominently of course in nuclear physics and solid state physics (halflife measurements, nuclear hyperfine structure, nuclear Zeeman effects, isomeric shifts, nuclear magnetic dipole and electrical quadrupole moments, parity experiments, oscillation modes of crystals and ferromagnetism). But applications of the Mössbauer effect were also found in quite different fields of physics; among these, measurements of a possible anisotropy of inertia, of second-order Doppler effects and other effects of GTR. In 1962 the first textbook on the Mössbauer effect appeared. This book compiled the most important original papers published up to December 1961.13 A contemporary summarized the long 2-year incubation period from first publication to surge in the big wave of applications (Table 1).

<sup>6</sup> Dicke, in an as yet unpublished scientific autobiography, archived at the American Institute of Physics (henceforth abbreviated AIP), dated January 1975, p. 6.

According to Fraunfelder [1962], 12, the conformation of Mössbauer's experiments in Los Alamos was only the result of a 5 cent bet on whether Mössbauer was right with his claims.

<sup>8</sup> Directly succeeding one another: Craig *et al.* [1959], and Lee *et al.* [1959]. <sup>9</sup> With  $E_0/\Gamma \sim 5 \cdot 10^{-13}$  and a half-life of about  $10^{-7}$  s. <sup>10</sup> On Fe<sup>57</sup>, which is generated from cobalt 57 by  $\beta$  decay, see Pound and Rebka [1959b], 555: 'our experimental width at half-height is approximately  $10^{-12}$  times the velocity of light and represents a 100fold reduction compared to the example reported by Mössbauer and others'. Schiffer and Marshall [1959], DePasquali et al. [1960], Hanna et al. [1960a]; compare also Mössbauer [1961], 151f. and Frauenfelder [1962], 36ff., Barloutaud et al. [1960] on other isotopes which can be used for Mössbauer measurements, among them the 92 keV transition in Zn<sup>67</sup> and the 23.8 keV transition in Sn<sup>119</sup>.

<sup>11</sup> Holland et al. [1960], 181, and Schiffer and Marshall [1959], 556 estimate 63%  $\gamma$  quanta emitted recoillessly; compare both, as well as Hay et al. [1960], 165 or Cranshaw et al. [1960], 163, for descriptions of the preparation of the sources of radiation.

<sup>12</sup> The first mention of the term 'Mössbauer effect' might have been made by his doctoral adviser Heinz Maier-Leibnitz (1958); compare also Hanna et al. [1960], Cranshaw et al. [1960], and Lipkin [1960], etc.

<sup>13</sup> Frauenfelder [1962], especially the bibliography, 86–96, and the Conference Proceedings mentioned ibid., 96; compare also Mössbauer [1961], 151: 'Die Bedeutung der neuen Methode lag sofort, wenn auch nicht in allen Konsequenzen auf der Hand', and Edingshaus [1986], 114ff. For early reviews of possible applications see, for example, Barit et al. [1960], Cotton [1960], Basov et al. [1962], Maier-Leibnitz [1964], 288ff., and Wegener [1966].

Period	Date	Remarks
Prehistoric	before 1958	Might have been discovered, but was not
Early Iridium age	1958	Discovered, but not noticed
Medium Iridium age	1958-59	Noticed, but not believed
Late Iridium age	1959	Believed, but not interesting
Iron age	1959-60	Wow!

Table 1. Phases on the discovery of the Mössbauer effect, remarks by Lipkin to Frauenfelder (Frauenfelder [1962], 13).

#### 2.2. Application to GRS in the Earth's gravitational field

The Mössbauer effect also stimulated the study of GRS. Before 1958, GRS could only be studied in the spectrum of the sun or other stars with high gravitational potential  $|\phi| \sim M/R$  such as the white dwarf Sirius B, since the conventional optical wavelength resolution (at best  $\Delta v/v \simeq 10^{-8}$ ) did not allow discrimination of the effect in systems of lower gravitational potential. For the earth's gravitational field, for instance, a difference in height of 10 m corresponded only to a GRS of  $\Delta v/v =$  $\Delta \phi/c^2 = g \cdot \Delta h/c^2 \simeq 1.09 \cdot 10^{-15}$ . On the other hand, it was a different matter for the 14.4 keV  $\gamma$  transition in Fe<sup>57</sup>:  $\Delta E/E \sim \Delta v/v$  was of the order of  $5 \cdot 10^{-13}$ , thus measurement of GRS became feasible if a relative accuracy in the determination of the precise absorption maximum and its shift of better than  $10^{-4}$  could be achieved.

On 1 November 1959 the Harvard professor of physics Robert Vivian Pound (b. 1919) advanced a preliminary note in the *Physical Review Letters* on a projected experiment to measure the GRS in the Earth's gravitational field. He had become aware of the Mössbauer effect from two brief follow-up reports in the Physical Review Letters of 1 September 1959, and 'immediately foresaw that the effect might be developed to examples, like <sup>57</sup>Fe and <sup>67</sup>Zn to look for the GRS'.<sup>14</sup> Together with his doctoral student Glen A. Rebka he searched for appropriate strong  $\gamma$  transitions in radioactive isotopes which would make an earthbound test of the GRS feasible. Apparently at first they even considered height differences of the order of kilometres.<sup>15</sup> Only one month later, the two physicists declared in the same journal: 'We are now confident that we can perform the gravitational experiment inside the laboratory using this  $\gamma$ -ray from Fe<sup>57</sup><sup>.16</sup> On the very same day the editors of the Letters branch of Physical Review also received a contribution from John Paul Schiffer (b. 1930) and his collaborator Walter Charles Marshall (b. 1932) at the Atomic Energy Research Establishment (AERE) in Harwell (England), who also announced their plans to use the 14.4 keV transition in Fe<sup>57</sup> to measure the GRS, which they further specified quantitatively as follows:

At a height of 20 meters this would produce a shift in the energy of the gamma rays which would be 1% of the width. With a one-curie source of  $Co^{57}$ , this effect would be measured with 10% accuracy, in 20 hours of counting. An

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Personal communication to the author, 8 September 1995. See Craig *et al.* [1959], and Lee *et al.* [1959].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Pound and Rebka [1959a], 439: 'the experiment could be performed between a mountain and a valley, in a mineshaft, or in a borehole'; compare ibid., 440: 'we are undertaking to examine these...isotopes with the aim of selecting an isotope suitable for a gravitational experiment' (submitted 15 October 1959).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Pound and Rebka [1959b], 555f., submitted 23 November 1959, published 15 December 1959.

experiment to measure this is also underway in collaboration with Dr. Cranshaw and awaits the successful preparation of a source of sufficient intensity.17

In the last footnote of their contribution they mention not only the fairly general note by Pound and Rebka (1959a), but also other teams whose independent development of the idea of using the Mössbauer effect to test GRS they had only heard about after they had already started their own work.<sup>18</sup> Actually, a third Russian team in Dubna had also begun work with special focus on the zinc isotype Zn<sup>67</sup> that in principle had the sharpest resonance line,<sup>19</sup> and other teams in Princeton and Tokyo were in the running as well.<sup>20</sup> This shows quite clearly how charged the air had become at that point at the laboratories endowed with adequate instrumentation. In Pound's opinion, his former experience with nuclear magnetic resonance and with perturbed directional correlations of short-lived isomeric nuclei 'which involve much of the same physics' had put him into a special disposition toward the new Mössbauer technology:

I was probably better able to believe in the resonance properties and to appreciate the limitations than most. For example, Bob [Robert] Dicke was naively pursuing an example of many seconds lifetime which I knew couldn't succeed because other interactions we study in NMR would set limits on the sharpness of the resonance. No resonance narrower than that of the  $^{67}$ Zn isotope we cited in our first letter has been found in the 36 years since then. Neither the Manchester group nor the Dubna, USSR group realized that the strength of the absorption in the iron example was so important. It was so much easier to employ than the zinc example which had only a relatively short lived gallium isotope as a parent source and which required liquid helium temperatures even to be detectable. Boyle and the Russians put all their efforts into zinc.<sup>21</sup>

The news even drifted into the daily press.<sup>22</sup>

Why did not more laboratories enter the race? My explanation is that to reduce systematic errors sufficiently it was indispensable to have strong and chemically pure sources of y radiation: in the case of Schiffer and his team it involved exposing iron plates in the Birmingham cyclotron and subsequent chemical treatment by the Radiochemical Centre in Amersham. Pound and Rebka were provided with similar services by the Oak Ridge National Laboratory, the Nuclear Science and Engineering Corporation and by Nuclear Metals Inc.<sup>23</sup> This also explains why, in the early years

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Schiffer and Marshall [1959], 556f., submitted on 23 November 1959, published on 15 December 1959, directly after the contribution of Pound and Rebka [1959b].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Ibid., 557: the two groups mentioned are D. H. Wilkinson's team on the one hand, and A. Boyle and S. Devons's team on the other. Both later published experimental work on the Mössbauer effect, but not directly related to the testing of GRS (Boyle et al. [1960]), perhaps because they had to cede to the priority and time advantage of Pound and Rebka and Cranshaw and Schiffer.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Compare Barit et al. [1960].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Compare, for example, Pound [1979], 134 and notes 9-14 where he mentions personal communications by S. Devons (17 November 1959), R. H. Dicke (12 November 1959), and Koichi Shimoda (14 December 1959).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Pound, in personal communication to the author, 8 September 1995.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> See the New York Times article on Pound and Rebka and GRS, 13 December 1959, or lead article in The Observer, early February 1960, on Schiffer and Marshall.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Cranshaw et al. [1960], 164; Pound and Rebka [1960b], 337.



Figure 1. Asymmetry in the counting rates due to a shift  $\Delta v$  in the frequency of the absorption line. The source is moved sinusoidially with an amplitude correlating with the total line width. *Source*: Wegener (1966), 213.

of the Mössbauer wave, mainly laboratories in the USA, England, France, and the Soviet Union were performing most experimental studies, since it was precisely in these countries that the know-how and the industrial proliferation of products such as purified metal isotopes were fully developed. For the preparation of strong sources the presence of a cyclotron or of a nuclear reactor was most convenient. Heidelberg, where Mössbauer had made his experiments, was one of the few well-situated places in Germany because the physics branch of the Max-Planck Institute for Medical Research had a cyclotron and the concomitant know-how since 1943.<sup>24</sup>

On 15 February 1960, Schiffer and his team in Harwell (England) were the first to present to the readers of the *Physical Review Letters* their results on the GRS induced in the 14·4 keV transition of Fe<sup>57</sup> by a drop of a  $\gamma$  quant at a height difference of 12·5 m.<sup>25</sup> According to the above rule of thumb:  $\Delta v/v \simeq 1.36 \cdot 10^{-15}$ . Their radiation source was a Co<sup>57</sup> source of 30 mCurie activity mounted on an iron disc and heated in a preparation process of several hours' duration at 700 °C hydrogen atmosphere, then in an ultra-high vacuum. This source of intense  $\gamma$  radiation was moved to and fro sinusoidally 50 times per second with the aid of a loudspeaker system, so that a similar periodicity of the absorption rate was observed in the detector that helped to discriminate the signal from the background. The optical path of the latter was evacuated along its entire length to eliminate disturbing influences of the air. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> On the slow introduction of cyclotrons in Europe, which were first developed mainly in Berkeley, California, by Lawrence and his team, see Heilbron [1986].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> For the following, see Cranshaw et al. [1960], 163f.

detector consisted of a proportional counter embedded in a crypton atmosphere of a 1/4 atm which absorbed the larger part of the low-energy  $\gamma$  radiation well below 14.4 keV, but not the  $\gamma$  quanta from the nuclear resonance.

The counter rates for the oscillation phases of the relative motion of the radiation source *towards and away* from the absorber were counted separately (cf. Figure 1). In the case of absence of the GRS they ought to be identical. For relative rest between emitter and absorber, they should reach their maximum, and symmetrically decrease with to-and-fro motions of the source. If GRS existed in the order of magnitude predicted by GTR, it ought to cause slight differences in the two counter rates.

Because of the sharp definition of the 14·4 keV transition, these differences of the counter rates only amounted to  $3\cdot9\cdot10^{-4}$ . After 250 hours' measuring time, the factual asymmetry of the two counter rates  $(3\cdot75\pm1\cdot76)\cdot10^{-4}$  was established, i.e. the relativistic prediction was experimentally confirmed to 96%, but a comparatively high error of  $\pm 47\%$  remained. Although no clear-cut confirmation of the full value of the relativistic GRS was reached, at least there was only a  $1\cdot7\%$  probability that GRS did not exist at all. A comparison measurement with the same instrumentation at a difference in height of 3 m yielded  $0\cdot9\cdot10^{-4}$ , which showed that a difference in height of 10 m was a kind of minimum requirement, given the technological constraints at that time.

Pound and Rebka's rival team got their results into print in the same journal only 6 weeks later on 1 April 1960.<sup>26</sup> They also measured the change in counter rate caused by the periodic up and down movements of the emitter relative to the resting absorber and detector, and their experimental set-up was similar in many other respects, but it differed in three important aspects:

- (1) Their path length was longer than Cranshaw and Schiffer's: 22 m (the total usable height of the Jefferson Physical Laboratory tower erected on the Harvard University campus in 1884).<sup>27</sup>
- (2) Their radiation source was stronger by a factor of 12 when compared with Cranshaw and Schiffer's  $Co^{57}$ : it had an activity of 0.4 Curie. The absorber they used was a specially prepared iron film that included 31.9% Fe<sup>57</sup>; independent tests had shown that about one-third of the resonance  $\gamma$  quanta was absorbed recoillessly. Owing to its enormous length the optical path was not evacuated but just filled with a cylindrically constricted helium atmosphere.
- (3) They had inverted the positioning of emitter and absorber to symmetrize the experimental set-up and thereby excluded two important systematic errors (see below).

After a 10-day run Pound and Rebka also registered a slight asymmetry in the count rates for up and down movement from which they arrived at  $\Delta v_{exp}/\Delta v_{ART} = 1.05 \pm 0.10$ . This experiment also confirmed the prediction of GTR within the 10% limit of their error analysis. Gamma quanta thus do experience a slight increase in frequency due to the drop in the Earth's gravitational field. In view of the basic agreement of the results of both experiments, Pound and Rebka's sharp criticism of Cranshaw and Schiffer's rival experiment which was so similar to their own in many respects is rather surprising: 'Our experience shows that no conclusion can be drawn

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> On the following, see Pound and Rebka [1960b], 337ff., Pound [1961], Krause and Lüders [1961], 35, and Frauenfelder [1962], 61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> See Pound [1961], 877, and [1979], 135, as well as Pound and Snider [1965], B792 for a sketch of the experimental setup.

#### K. Hentschel

from the experiment of Cranshaw et al.<sup>28</sup> In their opinion, their British colleagues had neglected the possible influence of temperature differences as well as of chemical differences between emitter and absorber on the counter rates. As they had shown previously in a small note that had appeared 14 days earlier in the Physical Review Letters, the temperature dependency of nuclear resonance was so strong that a mere difference of one degree Celsius between emitter and absorber would be sufficient to cause a frequency shift equal to GRS at a height difference of 22 m.<sup>29</sup> Since Cranshaw and Schiffer's set-up had only a 12.5 m height difference, even a mere 0.6 °C temperature difference would have been sufficient to simulate the presence of GRS. While in Harwell no measures had been taken to ensure the temperature equality of emitter and absorber during measurement, the two Harvard physicists had taken these two possible sources of systematic errors into account by (1) installing a thermoelement that automatically recorded the temperature differences between emitter and absorber which were later used to extract this effect from the raw data before the final analysis, and (2) by exchanging the position of emitter and absorber at regular intervals.

In Pound's first review article on this issue published at the end of 1960 in Russian and in 1961 also in English, he could already evaluate a total of six independent test runs conducted at Harvard, each time with slightly more optimized instrumentation and an error margin of about 10% each. Taken together, however, they allowed the conclusion that the observed relative frequency shifts coincided with the GRS predicted by GTR of  $4.67 \cdot 10^{-15}$  to  $(98 \pm 4)\%$ . 'The result demonstrates that the predicted "red-shift" exists and is quantitatively in agreement with expectation at least within about 4 percent. In effect the effective mass and weight of radiation have the same proportionality as do those measures of material bodies.'<sup>30</sup>

As far as I can see, Cranshaw and Schiffer only responded to Pound's strong criticism in a paper that appeared in 1964 in which they published their own measurements of GRS using a similar method for the same  $\gamma$  transition, but with a much more involved error analysis. According to this new measurement, the observed frequency shift was  $0.859 \pm 0.085$  times the prediction of relativity theory which thus lay *outside* the error margins of their data. In this same paper they also defended their earlier result with the argument that the temperature effect suspected by Pound and Rebka would in all probability not cause any trouble since it would act on both emitter and absorber, thus effectively cancelling itself out in the statistical average of several days' measuring period. In retrospect they were willing only to increase the error margin of their earlier result:

... a measurement of temperature differences over a period of several days in the building where the experiment was conducted indicated that, although some differences existed, the diurnal variations were such as to cause almost complete cancellation of the temperature difference between the two points. Thus the published results would have required no appreciable correction. Since the conditions inside and outside the building in which the experiment had been

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Pound and Rebka [1960b], 340.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Pound and Rebka [1960a], 275, submitted on 17 February, and published on 15 March 1960. For a theoretical derivation of this temperature dependency which follows from the relativistic time dilation that increases for higher temperatures, that is higher speeds of its constituents, see, for example, Josephson [1960]; compare also Boyle *et al.* [1960] for the experimental verification of this thermal redshift that soon followed, and Pound [1979], 134–6, as well as Preston and Gonser, in Gonser (ed.) [1981], 167f., for later papers on this effect.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Pound [1961], 880.

conducted were approximately the same during the temperature measurements as they were during the course of the experiment, a probability can be assigned to the validity of the assumption that a serious temperature difference did not exist. It was estimated that the uncertainty in the temperature difference would increase the errors of the measurement by approximately 20%. Thus, instead of quoting the earlier result as  $0.96 \pm 0.45$ , it should be  $0.96 \pm 0.54$ .<sup>31</sup>

According to Pound, this hand-waving argument was not sufficient to dispel doubts about their argument that their former data were not systematically disturbed by the existence of isomeric shifts induced by slight differences in the chemical composition of emitter and absorber. The physical reason for this shift is that the effective charge radii of ground level and isomeric levels of the nucleus are slightly different, thus leading to different electrostatic interactions with the electronic charge for the two states. The more compact the charge distribution, the lower the energy level.<sup>32</sup> Already in April 1960, a team at Brookhaven National Laboratory had warned that with chemically different emitters and absorbers 'any recoil-free absorption at zero velocity is accidental. In general, a search for this effect ... will not yield significant results unless source and absorber are identical chemically'.<sup>33</sup> According to Cranshaw and Schiffer's own measurements of 1964, this isomeric shift amounted to  $4.72 \cdot 10^{-3}$  mm/s, that is to a relative shift of  $1.6 \cdot 10^{-14}$  and thus ten times the redshift measured in their first experiment.<sup>34</sup> Therefore, Pound thinks that the chemical shift led to a 'complete destruction of their result previously reported'.<sup>35</sup>

Anyway, one year later in 1965, all remaining doubt as to the existence of GRS in the earth's gravitational field vanished with the publication of a new value by Pound and his new collaborator Joseph Lyons Snider (b. 1923) who had previously work on short-lived nuclei in atomic beams generated in a cyclotron at Princeton University. Again they had taken the 14.4 keV transition with an even stronger  $\text{Co}^{57}$  source of 1.25 Curie activity, a larger absorber and of course with even more sophistication in their measurement and data analysis: 'The result found was (0.9990  $\pm 0.0076$ ) times the value  $4.905 \cdot 10^{-15}$  of  $2gh/c^2$  predicted from the principle of equivalence.'<sup>36</sup> With this measurement that confirmed the relativistic prediction with a remaining error of less than 1%, the long-disputed existence of redshift in the gravitational field was thus finally resolved.<sup>37</sup>

It should also be mentioned that in 1960, Cranshaw and Schiffer, together with coworkers, also confirmed Einstein's principle of equivalency according to which a gravitational field should be locally indistinguishable from an accelerated system.<sup>38</sup>

<sup>32</sup> This interpretation was given in Walker [1961], 98; compare also DeBenedetti *et al.* [1961], 61, for a table of chemical shifts  $\delta$  and quadrupole splittings  $\Delta E$  (as they occur for instance with chemical binding of Fe<sup>57</sup> in Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>) for different types of iron compounds as absorbers.

<sup>33</sup> Kistner and Sunyar [1960], 414.

<sup>34</sup> Cranshaw and Schiffer [1964], 253; compare Pound's letter to the author, dated 10 October 1995: 'It has always puzzled me how they could have ignored the significance of that measured, finally, chemical shift as an influence on their original experimental result, and tried to recover respect for it by accommodating a small increase in the uncertainty arising from thermal fluctuations'.

<sup>35</sup> Personal communication to the author.

<sup>36</sup> Pound and Snider [1965], B788; compare ibid. for their description of the improvements compared with the earlier experiments.

<sup>37</sup> Compare, for example, the following examples for references to the work of Pound, Rebka, and Snider as 'the most accurate verification' of the GRS: Adam [1962], 302; Bertotti, in Witten (ed.) [1962], 30; Tonnelat [1964], 163f., Sciama [1969], 51; Dehnen [1969], 401; Nordtvedt [1972], 1158; Weinberg [1972], 82f.; Misner *et al.* [1973], 1056ff.; Will [1981], 6, 33f.; [1986], 3, 13, 51f.

<sup>38</sup> On the following, see Hay et al. [1960], and Wegener [1966], 214f.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Cranshaw and Schiffer [1964], 246.



Figure 2. (a) Schematic diagram of the experiment by Hay *et al.* (1960) and (b) comparison of their data with the prediction from the principle of equivalency. *Source*: Hay *et al.* (1960).

To do this with the aid of Mössbauer technology, they mounted a Co<sup>57</sup> source into the centre of a 0.8 cm diameter iron cylinder. Around it they also mounted a concentric absorber consisting of a cylindrical shell of Lucite with a diameter of 13.28 cm, covered with an iron foil enriched with 50% of Fe<sup>57</sup> (cf. Figure 2, left part). This assembly was mounted on a shaft that was rotated at angular velocities up to 500 cycles per second, and the  $\gamma$ -ray absorption rate in xenon-filled proportional counter was measured as a function of angular velocity.

According to classical mechanics, a potential difference  $\Delta \phi$  exists between the emitter at the distance  $r_{\rm E} = 0.4$  cm and the absorber at radius  $r_{\rm A} = 6.64$  cm accelerated at angular velocity  $\omega \sim 2\pi (d\phi/dt)$ :

$$\Delta \phi = \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}\phi}{\mathrm{d}t}\right)^2 \cdot (r_A^2 - r_{\rm E}^2)/2,\tag{1}$$

and according to the equivalency principle, this implies a frequency shift  $\delta\omega$  for the absorber A relative to the emitter E according to  $2\pi\Delta\nu \sim \Delta\phi/c^2$ , that is:

$$2\pi\Delta\nu = \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}\varphi}{\mathrm{d}t}\right)^2 \cdot (r_{\mathrm{A}}^2 - r_{\mathrm{E}}^2)/(2c^2). \tag{2}$$

For the relative shift in the energy of the  $\gamma$ -rays, Hay *et al.* derived a numerical estimate of  $2.44 \cdot 10^{-20} \cdot \omega^2$ . It is noteworthy that this equation can also be derived by looking at the effect as a second-order Doppler effect so that it is not absolutely unavoidable to use the relativistic principle of equivalency in the derivation.<sup>39</sup> At any rate, the experiment showed conclusively that the observed effect is in reasonable agreement with expectations: the relative counter rate increased with the square of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> See on this point in particular Wegener [1966], 215, and Hönl and Bennewitz [1966].

angular velocity as predicted by equation 2: 'The size of the shift of the gamma-ray energy in the effective gravitational field of a rotating system is in agreement with that due to terrestrial gravitational field, within the accuracy of the experiment'.<sup>40</sup>

#### 2.3. Another perspective on those experiments

In recapitulating this group of experiments, let us have a look at the rather critical perspective on this cut-throat race by a professor of physics at the University of California at Berkeley, Frederick Reif:

A few years ago Mössbauer, a young German physicist, discovered that the radiation emitted by certain atomic nuclei in solids is characterized by an exceedingly well defined frequency. This observation suggested to several people, in particular to two scientists, X and Y,<sup>41</sup> that such nuclei might be used as extremely accurate clocks well suited for checking a consequence of Einstein's general theory of relativity. This theory predicts that the rates of two identical clocks should be minutely different if they are located at different heights in a gravitational field. Both Z and Y undertook to check this prediction experimentally. Scientist X, however, first published a 'Letter' outlining his proposal for the experiment, long before he was ready to obtain actual data.<sup>42</sup> A few weeks later, again before either Z or Y had published any preliminary results in the scientific literature, the front page of the New York Times carried a picture of scientist X, together with an article describing the experiment he was undertaking.<sup>43</sup> When X discussed his experiment at a scientific meeting 6 weeks later he reported reluctantly that, despite hard work at great speed, he had not yet been able to reach any conclusions.<sup>44</sup> At the same meeting Y announced that he had successfully carried out the experiment and obtained results in agreement with the theory;<sup>45</sup> shortly thereafter Y published his findings.<sup>46</sup> It was not until some 2 months later that X, in a 'Letter', was able to report his own experiment, which also confirmed the theoretical expectation.<sup>47</sup> He pointed out, however, the necessity of controlling the temperature of the experiment quite carefully to avoid introducing large extraneous effects; indeed, since Y had not taken such precautions, his findings lacked significance. In this instance an important experiment was performed in a short time and ultimately in a reliable way. But the example shows vividly the actual circumstances under which the experiment was carried out-the announcement of an experiment before it was undertaken, the newspaper publicity, the hurried activity of two scientists working under pressure to be the first to publish—and the lack of sufficiently careful work which may result from these conditions.<sup>48</sup>

<sup>47</sup> He means Pound and Rebka [1960a], submitted on 9 March, published on 1 April 1960.

<sup>48</sup> Reif [1961], 1961–2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Hay et al. [1960], 215; Kündig [1963] found agreement within 1·1%.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> In a footnote Reif identifies these scientists X and Y as Pound and Schiffer.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> This alludes to Pound and Rebka [1959a], published on 1 November 1959.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> This alludes to Schmeck's New York Times article of 13 December 1959.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> This alludes to the meeting of the American Physical Society in New York in January 1960 where Pound gave an invited talk on his first measuring results that still had much fluctuation (due to uncontrolled temperature checks, as it turned out later).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> According to a personal communication by Pound, Cranshaw, and Schiffer appeared only as 'post deadline' speakers not listed in the programme of the conference as printed in: *Bulletin of the American Physical Society*, (2), 5 (1960), 72; see also Cranshaw and Schiffer [1960].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> He alludes to Cranshaw *et al.* [1960], received by the journal on 27 January, published on 15 February 1960.

#### K. Hentschel

Figure 3. Maier-Leibnitz's handwritten list of 15 feasible applications of the Mössbauer effect, dated [later?] May 1958 by Maier-Leibnitz. Source: Kienle (1991), 83.

So why is it that after a 30-year span of silence, suddenly two teams rushed simultaneously to do this experiment? This was because a new avenue of experimentation had been opened by the discovery of the Mössbauer effect in 1958. Heinz Maier-Leibnitz, Mössbauer's doctoral advisor, told me that the possibility of applying the Mössbauer effect to measurements of gravitational redshift was obvious to every experimentalist who at that time considered these issues at all. However, as the handwritten list of possible applications (see Figure 3, compiled by Maier-Leibnitz soon after Mössbauer's discovery) shows, gravitational redshift is not among the applications he himself had listed. When I asked him about this point, he replied: 'Well it was just too trivial to us for serious consideration.'

Be this as it may, it is true that several other teams had also thought about

performing this type of experiment apart from Pound and Rebka and Cranshaw, Schiffer and Whitehead, but had been deterred by the early publications of these two teams that signalled their great advantage in the race (cf. note 18). What we observe here is thus one of the most important patterns in the interaction of theory, experiment and instrumentation: namely the triggering of a new type of experiment owing to the development of a new measuring technique.<sup>49</sup>

#### 3. Precision measurements of solar GRS

Since the experiments by Pound and Rebka and Cranshaw and Schiffer in the early 1960s, the existence of a redshift of approximately the order predicted in Einstein's GTR had been proven more or less. However, it was only with Snider's repetition of these experiments in the mid-1960s that the precise determination of its magnitude was achieved. Moreover, all of these experiments were done with  $\gamma$ -rays in the Earth's gravitational field, so methodologically they were far removed from the earlier efforts to find GRS in the gravitational field of the sun. But in the early 1960s there was also a new interest in experiments on solar GRS.

#### 3.1. Photoelectric spectrometers with wavelength modulation technique

In May 1962, Robert H. Dicke's student at the department of physics at Princeton University, James William Brault (b. 1932),<sup>50</sup> submitted his PhD thesis on GRS in the solar spectrum, discussing a new approach to this problem with instruments he had designed specially for the purpose. Like many of his predecessors, Brault also started by asking himself what might have caused the failure of earlier efforts to confirm Einstein's prediction of GRS quantitatively.<sup>51</sup> Though Dicke had published theoretical alternatives to the GTR which also implied a non-standard gravitational redshift, Brault started with the working assumption that Einstein's value for the GRS was correct.<sup>52</sup> Since all acceptable models of the solar atmosphere at the time included some kind of assumption on convective zones, it was clear that it had to be assumed that part of the observable redshifts, as well as their variability over the solar surface, were caused by Doppler shifts related to radial currents. Furthermore, in all the models these convective currents were layer-dependent. In the concrete model Brault chose,<sup>53</sup> for optical depths<sup>54</sup> greater than 0.05 increasing gas pressure was another possible cause for larger redshifts at deeper layers.<sup>55</sup> As all of these factors influencing the resulting redshift were layer-dependent, Brault could safely assume that disregarding the details of the solar models the majority of the Fraunhofer lines ought to have asymmetrical line profiles. This is the case because the observable

<sup>49</sup> This pattern recurs repeatedly in the historical study on redshift experiments and observations between 1890 and 1960 covered in Hentschel [1995].

<sup>50</sup> During Brault's Princeton years (1955–64) he was also employed at the company Princeton Applied Research where he optimized electronic circuits and developed a highly sensitive JB4 amplifier: compare R. H. Dicke's interview with P. Forman and J. L. Bromberg on 2 May 1983, transcript at AIP, 16, and personal communication to the author.

<sup>51</sup> On the following, see Brault [1962], 1f.

<sup>52</sup> In Brault's own words (personal communication): 'I was scared to hell it might not come out right'. Compare, for example, Dicke [1957a, b].

<sup>53</sup> Brault used the model assumptions in Minnaert [1953]: see Brault [1962], 12a, Table I, for the numerical data on the layer-dependency of temperature, gas pressure and electron pressure, density, and other parameters; compare also ibid., 79, on Schröter's two-current model.

<sup>54</sup> Brault defines optical depth as the absorption coefficient per unit length in the continuum at 5000Å integrated from infinity to the point in question.

 $^{55}$  For  $\tau_{5000}=0.129$  the gas pressure was 4.0 dynes/cm<sup>2</sup>, for  $\tau=0.672$  already 10.0 and for  $\tau=6.09$  even 20 dynes/cm<sup>2</sup>.

#### K. Hentschel

absorption lines are the superposition of absorption in all these different layers of the solar atmosphere. And it was precisely this asymmetry of Fraunhofer line profiles which lay at the heart of the earlier failures to find the full GRS.

In the presence of line asymmetry, the results obtained with conventional spectrographic techniques become unreliable; the measured wavelengths will depend on such factors as the measuring habits of the observer, the degree of exposure and quality of the photographic plate, and even the type of instrument used.... The inadequacy of conventional photographic plates for dealing with... asymmetries, as well as the relatively low degree of precision attainable with such techniques when broad lines are being measured, probably accounts for the rather poor agreement between different observers.<sup>56</sup>

In other words, since 'present knowledge of solar structure is inadequate to produce a quantitative description of these effects' as well as their implications for the resulting line asymmetries,<sup>57</sup> the solar observer had to confine himself to the drastically limited subset of data he could safely assume to be free of these disturbing influences. 'On the whole, a strong case can be made for choosing only the best freestanding lines possible.<sup>58</sup> He thus actually followed a strategy also used much earlier by Grebe and Bachem around 1920 in their effort to confirm GRS in the solar spectrum. They also had selected less than 10 lines from a very much larger sample with the aid of photometric analysis of line profiles.<sup>59</sup> But instead of confining himself to the use of passive registering instruments such as a Koch or Hartmann photometer (as his Bonn colleagues had done 40 years earlier), Brault went further and developed his own instrument specially adapted for high-precision measurement of Fraunhofer line profiles and peaks. The key idea behind his photoelectrical spectrometer was a wavelength modulation technique.<sup>60</sup> The spectrometer's output slit was moved up and down electromechanically with variable modulation amplitude, and the spectrometer's photoelectrically recorded signal was synchronously recorded electronically. The dependency of the photoelectrical signal on the positioning of the slit (cf. Figure 4) was then used in feedback to reposition the slit in such a way that the slit always lay at the real maximum of the chosen spectral lines. This was possible because the oscillations of the output signal were minimal if the slit was precisely at the maximum of the absorption line while it oscillated with (or against) the phase of oscillation of the slit at either of the line's two flanks.

The complicated details of the instrument's design and the polished theory of the photoelectrical spectrometer's response cannot be dwelt on here.<sup>61</sup> It must be emphasized, though, that with this 'null detection method' Brault could increase the accuracy of wavelength measurements by a factor of 10-30 compared with visual measurements, and by a factor of 5 in comparison with all other contemporaneous methods.<sup>62</sup> Furthermore, his method was also well suited to detect deviances of a line

<sup>57</sup> Ibid., 82. <sup>58</sup> Ibid., 19.

<sup>60</sup> On the following, see Brault [1962], 2, 25ff.

<sup>61</sup> Brault [1962], chapter 4. Brault confirmed that his earlier work in the plasma physics group as well as on electronics and amplifiers for the Princeton Applied Research Company had considerable impact on the set-up of his solar redshift experiment (personal communication).

62 Brault [1962], 28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Brault [1962], 1f.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> See in this respect Grebe and Bachem [1919, 1920], and Hentschel [1992a, 1995 (§8.8)]. According to a personal communication to the author, Brault did not know about Grebe and Bachem's experiments. This strategy of rigorous data selection is also to be found in papers by Schwarzschild and St John, who in 1916 and 1917 carefully selected the lines they could safely assume not to be subject to pressure shifts.



Figure 4. (a) Sketch of Brault's 1962 experimental set-up and (b) schematic illustration of the variation of the photoelectric signal with the slit's position relative to the maximum of an emission line. *Source*: Brault (1962), 27a.



THE RED SHIFT OF SODIUM D,

Figure 5. Brault's data for the solar redshift in the centre of the Sun (circled points) and at the solar limb (triangular points) as a function of the modulation amplitude of his photoelectrical spectrometer. *Source*: Brault (1962), 73a.

profile from perfect symmetry because the amplitudes of the output oscillations were no longer symmetrical.<sup>63</sup> The error margin of his data lay in order of  $0.1 \text{ m}\text{\AA}$  resp. 0.005 km/s Doppler equivalent velocity—amounts related to irregular solar convection currents also known from other studies of the solar atmosphere.<sup>64</sup>

Using this instrument Brault searched for Fraunhofer lines 'most free from disturbing effects' of Doppler shift, centre–limb shift and pressure shift.<sup>65</sup> As the latter

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> Brault [1962], 67f.; compare also ibid., 26f., on the sensitivity of his instrument which Brault thought was able to determine the precise position of the maximum or minimum of a line to 1/1000 of its width.
<sup>64</sup> See Brault [1962], 67ff., on his error analysis; compare also H. H. Plaskett [1952–59], and Hart [1954,

 <sup>1956]</sup> on large-scale convection in the solar atmosphere.
<sup>65</sup> Brault [1962], 3; notice the comparative formulation; compare ibid., 54ff., for his description of a typical run to generate his data.

always led to asymmetric line profiles (see above), to Brault freedom from these disturbing influences was synonymous with a maximum symmetry of the chosen lines. A priori only those lines known to be formed in upper layers of the solar atmosphere came into consideration, because the above-mentioned disturbing influences only increased in deeper layers. Even the strongest iron lines, such as 5324 Å with Rowland intensity 7, showed clear indications of convective Doppler shifts. After a critical elimination of most candidate lines, only three remained that were sufficiently intense, undisturbed by blends (neighbouring lines) and unhampered by centre-limb shifts:66 Two of the three lines from the Mg triplet at 5170 Å and the sodium  $D_1$  line stood out as the most symmetric. Brault's further check of these three lines eventually singled out the latter as the most suitable for precision measurement of GRS in the solar spectrum. His own checks with varying modulation amplitude in the interval between 21.6 and 72 mÅ confirmed that this line was perfectly symmetrical (at least in the immediate neighbourhood of the maximum): 'It was found to show little or no centre-limb shift, and to be essentially symmetric'.<sup>67</sup> Further test series in which the Na  $D_1$  wavelength centre-limb shift was checked for 13 intervals of the solar diameter also did not reveal any considerable centre-limb shift,<sup>68</sup> although Brault's values for the solar limb all lay above those of the centre by a few percent.

As Figure 5 shows, Brault's data for redshift as a function of modulation amplitude first rose slightly and then fell again with a slightly stronger decline for amplitudes higher than about 75 mÅ. Brault argued that only the increasing violet shift for very high modulation amplitudes was a real effect. An increase in the modulation amplitude meant enlarging the interval between which the slit was moved back and forth. This meant taking into account the wider lower part of a spectral line that was formed predominantly in the lower sections of the atmosphere at higher pressures and higher temperatures. On the contrary, the move from the solar centre to the solar limb implied the selection of progressively higher levels of the solar atmosphere, because at the solar limb one cannot see as deeply into the solar atmosphere as at the solar centre (as is already clear from the discussion of solar limb darkening). But in his experiments, both an increase in modulation amplitude and movement from the solar centre to its limb were coupled with increased redshift, so one of these shifts had to be an artefact: 'the trend is to the red in both cases, which is improbable'.<sup>69</sup>

On the basis of this argumentation, Brault omitted on the one hand data gained at modulation amplitudes above 72 mÅ, but on the other hand admitted *all* data at lower modulation amplitudes (up to 72 mÅ, that is, the left part of Figure 5) including those on the centre–limb shift. For the remaining six data points he thus simply gave a numerical average resulting in

$$\left(\frac{\Delta\lambda}{\lambda}\right)_{\rm obs} = (1.05 \pm 0.05) \cdot \left(\frac{\Delta\lambda}{\lambda}\right)_{\rm GTR},\tag{3}$$

thus an empirical confirmation of GTR's prediction of GRS in the solar spectrum within about 5%. (As shown in the diagram, even the inclusion of the two data points

69 Ibid., 74.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> Brault [1962], 24, 64, mentions in this connection especially the studies by Evershed [1931], 260f., and [1937] as well as the Utrecht photometric atlas by Minnaert *et al.* [1940], that led to the exclusion of the Na  $D_2$  line because this line was possibly disturbed by strong blends.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Brault [1962], 3; compare ibid., 18f., on weak blends of many other lines. On the sodium D profiles in the centre and at the limb of the sun, see also Shane [1941].

<sup>68</sup> Brault [1962], 65f.

at higher modulation amplitudes would have given a very good coincidence with GRS, since the point at 100 mÅ is by chance virtually coincident with the GRS of the GTR. Because of this astonishing degree of coincidence with the relativistic prediction (at least when compared with all former attempts at verification) Brault's work is quoted in many textbooks and review articles on GTR as 'the' confirmation of GRS in the solar spectrum.<sup>70</sup> However, Brault's great achievement never gained wider popularity, perhaps because apart from a 10-line summary, no detailed account of his doctoral thesis was every published.<sup>71</sup>

#### 3.2. Resonance scattering in atomic beams

Blamont and Roddier, 1961-65. Independently of Brault's endeavours, a 3.2.1. French team had also attacked the problem of GRS in the solar spectrum in the early 1960s. Between 1961 and 1965 four papers appeared in English and French astrophysics journals, authored by Jacques E. Blamont and François Roddier<sup>72</sup> at the Observatoire de Meudon. They used a completely different method to determine the line profiles and thereby also the precise location of the absorption maximum of a Fraunhofer line (in their case of strontium). The key idea of their experimental setup (Figure 6) was to use the chosen spectral line of a certain chemical element to stimulate vapour at about 600 °C of the same element in the form of a well-defined atomic beam to emit radiation of the same wavelength.73 The intensity of this resonance emission of light was then determined at a right angle to the incoming light with the aid of a photo-multiplier. The crux of the set-up was that the resonance frequency of the vapour could be shifted by  $\Delta\lambda$  in a very controlled way by an additional magnetic field H transversal to the direction of the atomic beam, since the line chosen was subject to the normal Zeeman effect with  $\Delta\lambda \sim H$ . The order of magnitude of the Zeeman slope was 10-20 mÅ per kG. Unlike Brault's experiment, where only one line passed the critical scrutiny of the experimenter, the preconditions for this experiment were much laxer. Blamont and Roddier only had to make sure that they chose spectral lines that were (1) resonance lines, that is: transitions into the ground state, (2) sharply defined, (3) subject to the normal Zeeman effect, and (4) not subject to any hyperfine structure effects.<sup>74</sup> Thus the variation of the intensity of the re-emitted light of the atomic beam as a function of the magnetic field correlated with the line profile of the stimulating light from the sun. This very elegant method did not fuss with scaling the solar spectrum with any terrestrial comparison spectrum but used the oscillatory behaviour of light-scattering atoms directly as its clock, omitting

<sup>70</sup> For example, Born [1920, 4th edn 1964], 305; Dicke [1964], 25f.; Dehnen [1969], 401; Weinberg [1972], 81; Misner *et al.* [1973], 1058f.

 $^{71}$  See, for example, Dicke's unpublished scientific autobiography (AIP typescript, p. 7), in which he refers to Brault's experiment as the first 'meaningful' confirmation of GRS in the solar spectrum and continues: 'This excellent experiment did not receive the full publication that it deserved. The good results were due to the design of a special instrument and the use of a sodium D line (developed high in the photosphere where convective motion disappears)'. Brault reported that he continued to work on GRS for two years (still on the Na D<sub>1</sub> line), but never found the time to write down his results after moving to the Kitt Peak Observatory in 1964 (personal communication).

<sup>72</sup> Between 1959 and 1964, Roddier and Blamont were employed at the 'Service d'Aéronomie' of the CNRS at the Observatoire de Meudon. In December 1964 Roddier submitted his two-part summary of his work (on which I report in the following) as 'thèse principale' at the Faculté des Sciences de l'Université de Paris: Roddier [1965], 463 (footnote).

<sup>73</sup> On the details of the preparation of this atomic beam, see especially Roddier [1965], 465–76.

 $^{74}$  Practically, this latter condition meant that the line had to be emitted by an isotope with nuclear spin 0.



Figure 6. Set-up for the measurement of light resonance scattering with atomic beams.  $D_1$  is a blend for selecting a suitable part of the solar disc,  $D_2$  to  $D_4$  are blends against stray light and  $L_1$  and  $L_4$  are convex lenses; the magnetic field *H* is applied orthogonally to the axis of the atomic beam. *Source*: Blamont and Roddier (1964a), 438.

thereby all potential disturbing influences such as pressure or pole effect. Blamont had already used this method in 1953 for the determination of terrestrial emission spectrum line profiles. As the width of the chosen, very sharp resonance line of strontium at 4607.3 Å was a mere 1–2 mÅ, the obtainable wavelength resolution  $\lambda/\Delta\lambda$  lay between 10<sup>6</sup> and 10<sup>7</sup>, thus clearly above the resolution obtainable by diffraction gratings.

This absolute measuring method allowed a direct comparison of the wavelength of Fraunhofer lines with the spectral lines of similar atoms in the atomic beams. In this way Blamont and Roddier determined the minimum of the strontium line 4607.3 Å in the solar centre and at 1' distance from the solar limb (Figure 7), later (by 1965) in even more detail as a function of heliographical width.<sup>75</sup> While the theoretical prediction of GRS for this line was 9.76 mÅ, the empirical values were 8 mÅ for the solar centre and about 12 mÅ for the solar limb.

To explain the increase of redshift at the solar limb, Blamont und Roddier took recourse to the Lindholm effect,<sup>76</sup> since its pressure-induced redshift would add to the GRS at the solar limb, thus leading to a higher value of 12·16 mÅ at the solar limb which fits nicely with the observed value. However, this reasoning led to a problem with the value at the solar centre, since there too one should find the superposition of GRS *and* the Lindholm effect, but the observed value was lower. While in their first paper of 1961 Blamont and Roddier could do no better than to assume rising convective currents with associated violet shift in the solar atmosphere as the reason for this discrepancy,<sup>77</sup> they later corroborated this suspicion in three follow-up papers. Detailed comparisons were made of observed line profiles with calculated profiles based on certain models of the solar atmosphere such as de Jager's and also

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> On the latter, see Roddier [1965], 18ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> Compare Hentschel [1995], §10.3; Blamont and Roddier [1964a], 438, assumed T = 5700 °C and  $10^{17}$  hydrogen atoms per cm<sup>3</sup> and argued that for the  ${}^{1}P_{1} - {}^{1}S_{0}$  resonance transition of the chosen strontium isotope, Lindholm's approximation of the interatomic forces by van der Waals potentials was sufficient. On the Lindholm effect, see Lindholm [1942], and Hentschel [1995], §10.3, and sources mentioned there.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> Blamont and Roddier [1964a], 439; compare also Sciama, in Adam [1962], 304.



Figure 7. Line profiles of the strontium line 4607.3Å in the solar centre and at the limb, as well as their symmetry axes. *Source*: Blamont and Roddier (1964a), 439.

Schröter's two-current model which assumed the existence of such vertical tubes of rising gas in the solar atmosphere related to solar granulation.<sup>78</sup> Although it was not possible to fit the observed line profiles to the contemporary models of the solar atmosphere if only one constant microturbulence of 1.8 km/s was assumed, the agreement between theory and experiment improved with the assumption of a smaller velocity of just about 1 km/s in the convection zone ( $\tau > 0.07$ ), but a much greater velocity of circa 3.5 km/s in the layers above ( $\tau < 0.07$ ).<sup>79</sup> 'L'analyse de ces résultats nous a conduit à formuler l'hypothèse d'un accroissement rapide de la microturbulence avec la hauteur dans l'atmosphère solaire. Cet accroissement aurait lieu exactement à la limite de la zone convective.<sup>780</sup>

3.2.2. Snider 1969. As mentioned earlier, the technique of magnetic scanning on the basis of resonance scattering used by Blamont and Roddier for their confirmation of GRS worked only for a very limited number of Fraunhofer lines. A systematic check in the solar spectrum made by Joseph Lyons Snider (see above) at Harvard University's Jefferson Physical Laboratory showed that, apart from the strontium

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> Compare, for example, Bray and Loughhead [1967] or Hentschel [1995], §10.4.5 for further literature.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> On this, see Roddier [1965], 25-9.

<sup>80</sup> Ibid., 34.

line chosen by Blamont and Roddier, only two others could be taken: the  $D_1$  line of 5896 Å of the element sodium already chosen by Brault in 1962 as well as a line of potassium at 7699 Å, which (according to the contemporary photometric atlases of the solar spectrum) was nearly perfectly symmetrical (quite unlike the strontium line) and also fulfilled the other four criteria listed above.<sup>81</sup> Therefore Snider decided to use the resonance method on this line to check Blamont's and Roddier's result for the GRS. Because of the similarity of the line profiles of the Na  $D_1$  line and the K line, a confirmation of their result would also imply an increase in the reliability of the magnetic *scanning* technique as compared with Brault's wavelength modulation technique.

Using instrumentation and data generation roughly similar to Blamont and Roddier's, Snider collected data on 22 different days between January and May 1969 but, surprisingly, it did *not* lead to the expected quantitative confirmation of GRS but only to an average of

$$\Delta \lambda = (10 \pm 1) \,\mathrm{m} \dot{\mathrm{A}} = (0.61 \pm 0.06) \,\Delta \lambda_{\mathrm{ABT}},\tag{4}$$

i.e. only 60% of Einstein's prediction which lay well beyond Snider's error margin. As the GRS prediction had already been confirmed by too many other observers by that time, Snider tried to locate the error in his experiment rather than in those of the others. At the time of publication of his results in 1970 he suspected unknown time-dependent disturbing influences in the solar atmosphere as the reason for this failure:

All we can at present say is that, contrary to our hopes, the solar potassium line is affected differently than the sodium line by the dynamics of the photosphere. The 'additional unambiguous evidence for the solar gravitational redshift' mentioned in the Introduction has not been found.<sup>82</sup>

Despite his intensive search for possible errors, the actual cause of these deviances only surfaced several years later after Snider, who had moved in the meantime to Oberlin College in Ohio, conducted new measurements of GRS in 1971. It was the deviations from the linear dependency of magnetic field strength and line shifts which gave Snider the idea that unwanted circularly polarized components of the incoming light ray may have altered the line profile.<sup>83</sup> These superimposed components happened to be strongest in those cases where GRS and the Doppler shifts induced by the earth's motion happened to work in the same direction as had been the case in his first measuring period of 1969. Contrary to this, the second measuring period (from December 1970 to November 1971) took a whole year so that the superimposed effect of the earth's motion equalled out in the average, which meant that his data were essentially free from superimposed effects of circularly polarized components. The data collected during this long measuring period led to a result of  $(16.4 \pm 1)$  mÅ compared with the GTR prediction of 16.3 mÅ for this line. This result  $(1.006 \pm 0.061)$ was another clear confirmation within an error margin of merely 6%. Since the accuracy of this result was quite comparable with the one that Brault had achieved (5% error margin), but no longer needed the intricate auxiliary assumptions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> Snider [1970], 353; compare Minnaert *et al.* [1940] or Moore *et al.* [1966]. In Snider [1972], 856, it is also shown that this line as well as Na  $D_1$  does not show any significant centre–limb shift. Snider had worked on atomic beam technology already in Princeton and thus transferred some of this know-how to the Harvard research group.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> Snider [1970], p. 368.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> See Snider [1972], 855, where he specifies the amount of unwanted light components to 12%; compare also Snider [1974], 233f.

introduced by Blamont and Roddier concerning convection currents and the like, Snider himself spoke emphatically of 'the second clear-cut experiment on the solar red shift'.<sup>84</sup> Perhaps of more importance than the agreement with relativity theory was the re-establishment of mutual agreement with the result of Blamont and Roddier obtained by similar means, since this kind of stability was the precondition for the reliability of the magnetic scanning method of resonance scattering in atomic beams.<sup>85</sup>

#### 4. Conclusion

The dampened oscillations with which in the 1960s and early 1970s the three different measurement techniques (Mössbauer effect, photoelectric wavelength modulation, and resonance scattering) each came closer and closer to the value predicted by Einstein's theory of relativity are summarized in Table 2.

The following systematic conclusions can be drawn from the previous case studies on experimental work on GRS between 1959 and 1972:

- (1) The successful confirmation of Einstein's prediction of GRS in the solar spectrum as well as in the Earth's gravitational field in the 1950s and early 1960s only became possible with the aid of new technologies (Mössbauer effect, wavelength modulation, fast photoelectric spectrometer) that were not available in the decades before.
- (2) The experiments soon kept pace with these technologies; in fact, in the case of the application of the Mössbauer effect there was even a cut-throat race to be the first to apply it to the GRS problem. Therefore, the Mössbauer effect was itself a new experimental discovery at first, but soon evolved into a measuring technology for other experiments.<sup>86</sup>
- (3) This clustering of similar experiments with (roughly) similar outcomes actually furthered the acceptance of each of them, but also (even more so) the acceptance of the new technologies on which they were based.<sup>87</sup>
- (4) Methodologically there are striking parallels between the approach of experimenters around 1960 with those three or four decades earlier (in particular, if we compare Brault with Bachem and Grebe):

strict selection criteria as to suitable data; and

effective combination of insights from different branches of science.

Granted that the last conclusion is true, it also supports my approach of searching out patterns running through cases related to the same *problematique*, but in different periods and situated in different scientific communities (physicists, spectroscopists, solar astrophysicists). Similar to the case of St John,<sup>88</sup> the successful strategy was to combine systematically isolated insights into a densely packed network of mutually consistent data, model assumptions and further hypotheses (such as, for instance, Brault's assumption of an abrupt break in the order of magnitude of the micro-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> Snider [1972], 853.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> On this calibration of scientific instruments by mutual coherence of measurements, see, for example, Galison [1987], 267ff., Andy Pickering and Allan Franklin, in Gooding *et al.* (eds) [1989], 275–97, 437–59, especially 279ff., 438f. respectively, and, in particular, Franklin [1994], 472–87.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> It became 'transparent' in the sense of Schaffer and Gooding, in Gooding *et al.* (eds) [1989], 14f., 70, 91ff., 216ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> On Brault's reception, see note 70; on Pound, Rebka, and Snider, see note 37; in many of these references the coincidence in the empirical values for GRS between these two sets of measurements was pointed out explicitly.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> Compare Earman and Glymour [1980], and Hentschel [1993a], and references given there.

Name	Date of publication	Technique	$\Delta v_{emp} / \Delta v_{GTR}$
Cranshaw and Schiffer	15 February 1960	Mössbauer effect of Co <sup>s7</sup> radiation at 10 m tower	0·96±0·45
Pound and Rebka	April 1960	Mössbauer effect of 14·4 keV transition in strong Co <sup>57</sup> radiation, 22 m tower	$1.05 \pm 0.10$
Pound	End of 1960	22m Tower	$0.98 \pm 0.04$
Brault	1961/62	Wavelength modulation in photoelectric spectrometer	$1.05 \pm 0.05$
Blamont and Roddier	1961–65	Resonance scattering in atomic beams for $\odot$ centre and $\odot$ limb respectively	0.82 and 1.5
Cranshaw and Schiffer	1964	Reassessment of 1960 measurements with temperature inhomogeneities included in the error analysis	0·96±0·54
Pound and Snider	1965	Mössbauer effect (as above)	$0.9990 \pm 0.0076$
Snider	1969	Resonance scattering of 7699Å line of K (without unwanted contributions from circularly polarized $\gamma$ radiation)	0·61±0·06
Snider	1972	Resonance scattering of 7699Å line of K (without unwanted contributions from circularly polarized $\gamma$ radiation)	1·006±0·061

Table 2. Results of GRS measurements, 1959–71; the last column lists the resulting values for  $\Delta v_{emp}$  as compared with  $\Delta v_{GTR}$ .

turbulences at the border zone between convection zone and photosphere). Owing to the progress of science, the acceptable assumptions were even more constrained for Brault in 1960 than they had been for Bachem and Grebe 40 years earlier; but on the other hand many model parameters open to Brault were simply beyond the reach of his predecessors, so that, all in all, in both periods considerable interpretive leeway remained.

#### Acknowledgements

Many thanks to Professors J. Brault and R. V. Pound for their detailed replies to my questions, to the participants of the 4th International Conference on the History of General Relativity in Berlin, August 1995, for a stimulating discussion, and to an anonymous referee of *Annals of Science* for some helpful hints. Special thanks go to Elisabeth Eck for the revision of my English.

#### K. Hentschel

#### Bibliography

- Adam, Madge Gertrude, 'The observational tests of gravitation theory', Proceedings of the Royal Society of London, A270 (1962), 297-305.
- Barit, I.Ya., Pogoretskii, M.I., and Shapiro, F.L., 'Several possible applications for the resonant scattering of gamma rays', Soviet Physics JETP, 11 (1960), 218–19.
- Barloutaud, Roland, Cotton, Eugène, Picou, Jean Loup, and Quidort, Jacques, 'Absorption résonante sans recul du rayonnement  $\gamma$  de <sup>119</sup>Sn', *Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences*, 250 (1960), 319–21, 2705–7.
- Barloutaud, R., Picou, J.L., and Tzara, C. 'Diffusion résonante du rayonnement γ de 238keV', Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences, 250 (1960), 2705–97; reprinted in Frauenfelder (ed.) (1962), 209–11.
- Basov, N.G. et al., 'Possible investigation of relativistic effects with the aid of molecular and atomic frequency standards', Soviet Physics Uspekhi 4 (1962), 641-73 (orig. in Russian).
- Blamont, Jacques, E., and Roddier, François, 'Precise observation of the profile of the Fraunhofer Strontium resonance line. Evidence for the gravitational red shift of the sun', *Physical Review Letters* 7 (1964a), 437-9; see also the commentary by Sciama in Adam (1962), 304.
- Blamont, Jacques, E., and Roddier, François, 'Étude à haute résolution du profil de la raie  $\lambda = 4607,3$  Å du Strontium neutre en différents points du disque solaire et mesure des longueurs d'onde au spectrographe', *Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences*, 258 (1964b), 449-52.
- Born, Max, Die Relativitätstheorie Einsteins (Berlin, Springer): 1st edn 1920 [with subtitle und ihre experimentelle Bestätigung]; 2nd edn 1922; 4th extended edn 1964 [together with W. Biem] and 5th edn 1969.
- Boyle, A.J.I., Bunbery, P., Edwards, C., and Hall, H.E., 'A thermal red shift of the recoilless γ-emissions of <sup>119</sup>Sn<sup>m</sup>', *Proceedings of the Physical Society London*, **76**, (1960), 165–7.
- Brault, James William, *The Gravitational Redshift in the Solar Spectrum* (doctoral dissertation, Princeton University, 1962); compare the summary in *BAPS*, 8 (1962), 28.
- Brault, James William, et al., Photometric Atlas of the Solar Spectrum from 1850 to 10000 cm<sup>-1</sup> (Tuscon: Kitt Peak National Observatory, 1981).
- Bray, R.J. and Loughhead, R.E., The Solar Granulation (London: Chapman & Hall, 1967).
- Cotton, Eugène, 'L'effet Mössbauer et ses applications', Nucleus. La Revue Scientifique [Paris], 1 (1960), 174-83.
- Craig, P.P., Dash, J.G., McGuire, A.D., Nagle, D., and Reiswig, R.R., 'Nuclear resonance absorption of gamma rays in Ir<sup>191</sup>', *Physical Review Letters*, 3 (1959), 221–3.
- Cranshaw, T.E., 'The Mössbauer effect and experiments in relativity', in *Evidence for Gravitational Theories*, edited by Christian Möller (New York: Academic, 1962), 209–21.
- Cranshaw, T.E., and Schiffer, J.P., 'Experiments to test Einstein's principle of equivalence', *Nature*, 185 (1960), 653-4.
- Cranshaw, T.E., and Schiffer, J.P., 'Measurement of the gravitational red shift with the Mössbauer effect', *Proceedings of the Physical Society*, 84 (1964), 245–56.
- Cranshaw, T.E., Schiffer, J.P., and Whitehead, A.B., 'Measurements of the gravitational red shift using the Mössbauer effect in Fe<sup>57</sup>', *Physical Reviews Letters*, 4 (1960), 163–4 (see also Hay et al. (1960)).
- DeBenedetti, S., Lang, G., and Ingalls, R., 'Electric quadrupole splitting and the nuclear volume effect in the ions of Fe<sup>57</sup>', *Physical Reviews Letters*, 6 (1961), 60–2.
- Dehnen, H., 'Kann die allgemeine Relativitätstheorie heute als bestätigt gelten?', *Physikalische Blätter*, 25 (1969), 400-7.
- Depasquali, G., Frauenfelder, H., Margulies, S., and Peacock, R.N., 'Nuclear resonance absorption and nuclear Zeeman effect in Fe57', *Physical Review Letters*, 4 (1960), 371–3.
- Dicke, Robert Henry, 'Principle of equivalence and the weak interactions', *Review of Modern Physics*, 29 (1957a), 355-62.
- Dicke, Robert Henry, 'Gravitation without a principle of equivalence', Review of Modern Physics, 29 (1957b), 363-76.
- Dicke, Robert Henry, The Theoretical Significance of Experimental Relativity (New York: Gordon & Breach, 1964).
- Earman, John, and Glymour, Clark, 'The gravitational redshift as a test of general relativity: history and analysis', Studies in History and Philosophy of Science, 11 (1980), 251-78.
- Edingshaus, Anne Lydia, Heinz Maier-Leibnitz. Ein halbes Jahrhundert experimentelle Physik (Munich: Piper, 1986).
- Einstein, Albert, 'Über das Relativitätsprinzip und die aus demselben gezogenen Folgerungen', Jahrbuch für Radioaktivität und Elektronik, 4 (1907), 411–62.
- Einstein, Albert, 'Über den Einfluß der Schwerkraft auf die Ausbreitung des Lichtes', Annalen der Physik, Series 4, 35 (1911), 898–908.
- Einstein, Albert, 'Die Grundlagen der allgemeinen Relativitätstheorie', Annalen der Physik, Series 4, 49 (1916), 769-822.
- Eisenstaedt, Jean, 'La relativité générale à l'étiage: 1925–1955', Archive for History of Exact Science, 35 (1986), 115–85.

- Evershed, John, 'The Shift towards red of the Calcium, Aluminium, and Iron lines in the Solar spectrum', Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, 91 (1931), 260-70.
- Evershed, John, 'The red-shift of the D-lines of Sodium in the sun', Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, 98 (1937), 195-8.
- Forbes, Eric Gray, 'A history of the solar redshift problem', Annals of Science, 17 (1961), 129-64.
- Franklin, Allan, 'How to avoid the experimenters' regress', Studies in History and Philosophy of Science, 25 (1994), 463-91.
- Frauenfelder, Hans, The Mössbauer Effect (New York: Benjamin, 1962).
- Galison, Peter, How Experiments End (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1987).
- Gonser, U. (ed.), Mössbauer Spectroscopy II. The Exotic Side of the Method (Berlin: Springer, 1981).
- Gooding, David, Pinch, Trevor, and Schaffer, Simon (eds), The Uses of Experiment (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1989).
- Grebe, Leonhard, and Bachem, Albert, 'Über den Einsteineffekt im Gravitationsfeld der Sonne', Verhandlungén der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, 21 (1919), 454-64.
- Grebe, L., and Bachem, A., 'Die Einsteinsche Gravitationsverschiebung im Sonnenspektrum, Zeitschrift für Physik, 2 (1920), 415-22 and pls.
- Hanna, S.S., Littlejohn, C., Perlow, G.J., Preston, R.S., and Vincent, D.H., 'Observations on the Mössbauer Effect in Fe<sup>57</sup>', *Physical Reviews Letters*, 4 (1960a), 28–29.
- Hanna, S.S., Littlejohn, C., Perlow, G.J., Preston, R.S., and Vincent, D.H., 'Polarized spectra and hyperfine structure in Fe<sup>57</sup>', *Physical Review Letters*, 4 (1960b), 177-80; reprinted in Frauenfelder (ed.), (1962), 225-8.
- Hart, A.B., 'Motions in the sun at the photospheric level. IV: The equatorial rotation and possible velocity fields in the photosphere', *Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society*, 114 (1954), 17–38 (= Contributions of the University Observatory Oxford, 43); see also H.H. Plaskett (1952–59); and Hart (1956).
- Hart, A.B., 'Motions in the sun at the photospheric level. VI: Large scale motions in the equatorial region', Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, 116 (1956), 38-55 (= Contributions of the University Observatory Oxford, 54).
- Hay, H.J., Schiffer, J.P., Cranshaw, F.E., and Egelstaff, P.A., 'Measurement of the red shift in an accelerated system using the Mössbauer effect in Fe<sup>57</sup>'), *Physical Review Letters*, 4 (1960), 165; reprinted in Frauenfelder (ed.) (1962), 245–6; see also Cranshaw et al. (1960).
- Heilbron, John, 'The first European cyclotrons', Rivista Storia dell'Scienze, 3/1 (1986), 1-44.
- Hentschel, Klaus, 'Grebe/Bachems photometrische Analyse der Linienprofile und die Gravitations-Rotverschiebung: 1919 bis 1922', Annals of Science, 49 (1992a), 21-46.
- Hentschel, Klaus, Der Einstein-Turm, E.F. Freundlich und die Relativitätstheorie—Ansätze zu einer 'dichten Beschreibung' von institutionellen, biographischen und theoriengeschichtlichen Aspekten (Heidelberg: Spektrum, 1992b).
- Hentschel, Klaus, 'Einstein's attitude towards experiments', Studies in History and Philosophy of Science, 23 (1992c), 593-624.
- Hentschel, Klaus, 'The conversion of St. John—a case study on the interplay of theory and experiment', Science in Context, 6/1 (1993a), 137-94.
- Hentschel, Klaus, 'The discovery of the redshift of solar Fraunhofer lines by Rowland and Jewell in Baltimore around 1890', Historical Studies in the Physical Sciences, 23/2 (1993b), 219-77.
- Hentschel, Klaus, 'Erwin Finlay Freundlich, Albert Einstein, and experimental tests of the general theory of relativity', Archive for the History of Exact Sciences, 47/2 (1994), 143–201.
- Hentschel, Klaus, Zum Zusammenspiel von Instrumentation, Experiment und Theorie am Beispiel der Rotverschiebung im Sonnenspektrum, 1880–1960 (habilitation thesis, 1995).
- Holland, R.E., Lynch, F.J., Perlow, G.J., and Hanna, S.S., 'Time spectra of filtered resonance radiation of Fe<sup>57</sup>', *Physical Review Letters*, 4 (1960), 181–2.
- Hönl, H., and Bennewitz, F., 'Prüfhung der Zeitdilatation mit Hilfe des Mößbauer-Effektes', Zeitschrift für Naturforschung, 21 A (1966), 867-9.
- Josephson, B.D., 'Temperature-dependent shift of γ-rays emitted by a solid', *Physics Reviews Letters* 4 (1960), 341-2; reprinted in Frauenfelder (ed.) (1962), 252.
- Kienle, Paul (ed.), Wie kommt man auf einfaches Neues? Der Forscher, Lehrer, Wissenschaftspolitiker und Hobbykoch Heinz Maier-Leibnitz (Zürich: Interfromm, 1991).
- Kistner, O.C., and Sunyar, A.W., 'Evidence for quadrupole interaction of Fe<sup>57m</sup>, and influence of chemical binding on nuclear gamma-ray energy', *Physical Review Letters* 4 (1960), 412–15.
- Krause, I.Y., and Lüders, G., 'Experimentelle Prüfung der Relativitätstheorie mit Kernresonanzabsorption', Naturwissenschaften, 48 (1961), 34-6 (= commentary on Pound and Rebka [1960c]).
- Kündig, Walter, 'Measurement of the transverse Doppler effect on an accelerated system', *Physical Review*, 129 (1963), 2371-5.
- Lee, L.L., Meyer-Schutzmeister, L., Schiffer, J.P., and Vincent, D., 'Nuclear resonance absorption of gamma rays at low temperatures', *Physical Review Letters*, 3 (1959), 323-5.
- Lindholm, Einar, Über die Verbreiterung und Verschiebung von Spektrallinien. Experimentelle und theoretische Beiträge (Uppsala: Almquist, 1942).

- Lipkin, Harry, J., 'Some simple features of the Mössbauer effect', Annals of Physics, 9 (1960), 332-9; reprinted in Frauenfelder (ed.) (1962), 161-8.
- Magnus, Kurt (ed.), 125 Jahre Technische Universität München 1868–1993 (Munich: TU Munich, 1993).
- Maier-Leibnitz, Heinz, 'Die einfachsten Grundlagen des Mößbauereffektes und seiner Andwendungen', Mathematisch-Physikalische Semesterberichte, new series, 10 (1964), 27–95.
- Minnaert, Marcel, G.J., 'The photosphere', in Gerard P. Kuiper (ed.), The Sun (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1953), 88-185.
- Minnaert, Marcel Gilles Jozef, Mulders, G.F.W., and Houtgast, J., Photometric Atlas of the Solar Spectrum from  $\lambda$  3612 to  $\lambda$  8771 with an Appendix from  $\lambda$  3332 to  $\lambda$  3637 (Amsterdam: Schnabel, 1940).
- Misner, Charles, W., Thorne, Kip, and Wheeler, John Archibald, Gravitation (San Francisco: Freeman, 1973).
- Möller, Christian (ed.), Evidence for Gravitational Theories (New York: Academic, 1962).
- Moore, C.E., Minnaert, M.G.J., and Houtgast, J., The Solar Spectrum 2935 Å to 8770 Å; Second Version of Rowland's Preliminary Table of Solar Spectrum Wavelengths (Washington: National Bureau of Standards, 1966).
- Mößbauer, Rudolf Ludwig, 'Kernresonanzabsorption von Gammastrahlung in Ir<sup>191</sup>' Naturwissenschaften, 45 (1958a), 538-9; English translation in Frauenfelder (ed.) (1962), 127-9.
- Mößbauer, Rudolf Ludwig, 'Kernresonanzfluoreszenz von Gammastrahlung in Ir<sup>191</sup>', Zeitschrift für Physik, 151 (1958), 124–43; reprinted and partially translated in Frauenfelder (ed.) (1962), 101–26.
- Mößbauer, Rudolf Ludwig, 'Kernresonanzabsorption von Gammastrahlung in Ir 191', Zeitschrift für Naturforschung, 14a (1959), 211–16; reprinted in Frauenfelder (ed.) (1962), 130–5.
- Mößbauer, Rudolf Ludwig, 'Rückstoßfreie Kernresonanzabsorption von Gammastrahlung', Les Prix Nobel en 1961 (Stockholm: Imprimerie Royale, 1962), 1, 20–3, 136–55.
- Nordtvedt, Kenneth L., 'Gravitation Theory: Empirical Status from Solar System Experiments', Science, 178 (1972), 1157-64.
- Plaskett, Harry Hemley, 'Motions in the sun at the photospheric level', Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, 112 (1952), 414-24 (I: 'Methods' = Contributions of the University Observatory Oxford, 34); 114 (1954), 251-70 (V: 'Velocities of granules and of other localized regions' = Contributions of the University Observatory Oxford, 44); 119 (1959), 197-212 (VIII: 'Solar rotation and photospheric circulation' = Contributions of the University Observatory Oxford, 70); see also Hart (1954, 1956).
- Pound, Robert Vivian, 'On the weight of photons', Soviet Physics Uspekhi, 3 (1961), 875–80; see also Pound and Rebka (1959).
- Pound, Robert Vivian, 'Prospects for improving measurements of the effect of gravity on frequency', in *International Meeting on Experimental Gravitation* (edited by Bruno Bertotti) (Rome: Accademia Nazionale dei Lincei, 1977), 35-47.
- Pound, Robert Vivian, 'Terrestrial measurements of the gravitational red shift', in Albert Einstein's Theory of General Relativity edited by Gerald Tauber (New York, 1979), 132-9.
- Pound, Robert Vivian, 'The gravitational redshift', in Mössbauer Spectroscopy. II. The Exotic Side of the Method, edited by U. Gonser (Heidelberg: Springer, 1981), 31-47.
- Pound, R.V., Benedek, G.B., and Drever, R., 'Effect of hydrostatic compression on the energy of the 14.4 keV gamma ray from Fe<sup>57</sup> in Iron', *Physical Review Letters*, 7 (1961), 405–8.
- Pound, R.V., and Rebka, Glen, A. 'Gravitational redshift in nuclear resonance', *Physics Review Letters*, 3 (1959a), 439–41; in Russian translation: 'On the weight of photons', *Uspekhi Fizicheskikh Nauk*, 72 (1959a), 673–83.
- Pound, R.V., and Rebka, Glen, A. 'Resonant absorption of the 14·4 keV γ-ray from 0, 10-μsec Fe<sup>57</sup>', *Physical Review Letters*, 3 (1959b), 554–6.
- Pound, R.V., and Rebka, Glen, A. 'Variation with temperature of the energy of recoil free gamma rays from solids', *Physical Review Letters*, 4 (1960a), 274–5; reprinted in Frauenfelder (ed.) (1962), 250–1.
- Pound, R.V., and Rebka, Glen, A. 'Apparent weight of photons', *Physics Review Letters*, 4 (1960b), 337-41; reprinted in Frauenfelder (ed.) (1962), 240-4.
- Pound, R.V. and Snider, J.L., 'Effect of gravity on gamma radiation', *Physical Review*, B140 (1965), 788-803.
- Reif, Frederick, 'The competitive world of the pure scientist', Science, 134 (1961), 1957-62.
- Roddier, François, 'Étude à haute résolution de quelques raies de Fraunhofer par observation de la résonance optique d'un jet atomique; I: Réalisation d'un spectrographe à jet atomique; II: Résultat des observations solaires', Annales d'Astrophysique 28 (1965), 463–98.
- Schiffer, John Paul and Marshall, W., 'Recoilless resonance absorption of gamma rays in Fe<sup>57</sup>', Physical Review Letters, 3 (1959), 556-7.
- Schild, Alfred, 'Equivalence principle and red-shift measurements', American Journal of Physics, 28 (1960), 778-80.
- Schild, Alfred, 'Gravitational theories of the Whitehead type and the principle of equivalence', in Möller (ed.) (1962), 69–115.

Shane, C.D., 'Profiles of the D-Lines in the solar spectrum', *Lick Observatory Bulletin*, 507 (1941), 119-30. Sciama, Dennis, W., *The Physical Foundations of General Relativity* (New York: Doubleday, 1969).

- Snider, Joseph Lyons, 'Atomic-beam study of the solar 7699 Å potassium line and the solar gravitational red-shift', Solar Physics, 12 (1970), 352–69.
- Snider, Joseph Lyons, 'New measurements of the solar gravitational redshift', *Physical Review Letters*, 27 (1972), 853-6.
- Snider, Joseph Lyons, 'Comments on the recent measurements of the solar gravitational red shift', Solar Physics, 36 (1974), 233–4.
- Tonnelat, Marie-Antoinette, Les verifications expérimentales de la relativité générale (Paris: Masson, 1964).
- Walker, L.R., 'Interpretation of the Fe<sup>57</sup> isomer shift', Physical Review Letters, 6 (1961), 98-101.
- Wegener, Horst, Der Mößbauereffekt und seine Anwendung in Physik und Chemie (Mannheim: Bibliographisches Institut, 1966).
- Weinberg, Steven, Gravitation and Cosmology: Principles and Applications of the General Theory of Relativity (New York: Wiley, 1972).
- Will, Clifford, M., Theory and Experiment in Gravitational Physics (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1981).
- Will, Clifford, M., Was Einstein Right? (New York: Basic, 1986); in German translation, Und Einstein hatte doch recht (Berlin: Springer, 1989).
- Witten, Louis (ed.), Gravitation: An Introduction to Current Research (New York: Wiley, 1962).